RECEIVED 10-07-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT TIWISCONSIN

Case No. 2019AP001448-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DESMOND MYERS LAPEAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Judgment Entered in the St. Croix County Circuit Court, the Honorable Eric J. Lundell, Presiding, and from the Order Entered in the St. Croix County Circuit Court, the Honorable Scott J. Nordstrand, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATHILYNNE A. GROTELUESCHEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085045

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1770 grotelueschenk@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was Mr. LaPean denied the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to the state's breach of the plea agreement and failed to advise him that he could seek specific performance at a new sentencing hearing as a result of the plea breach?

Circuit court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. The briefs should adequately set forth the arguments and publication will likely be unwarranted as the issue presented can be decided on the basis of well-established law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 18, 2017, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Desmond Myers LaPean with first degree sexual assault of a child under 12 and repeated sexual assault of a child. (1:1). The complaint alleged that sometime between 1, 2013 September and September 1. 2014, Mr. LaPean had sexual contact or sexual intercourse with A.M.A.M. on at least three occasions. (1:1).

Page 6 of 33

The case resolved with a plea agreement, pursuant to which Mr. LaPean pled no contest to Count 2 of the information, repeated sexual assault of a child. (21:1; 87:3-4, 13). In exchange, the state agreed to dismiss Count 1, as well as the charges in 17-CM-289 and 17-TR-2070, and to cap its sentencing recommendation at 10 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (30:2; 87:3-4).

After a plea colloguy, the circuit court accepted Mr. LaPean's plea, found him guilty, ordered a presentence investigation report, and set the case over for sentencing. (87:13-14).

Sentencing was held on July 9, 2018. (88). The Court began by hearing from the state. (88:4-15; App. 118-128). During her argument, the prosecutor read a letter from the victim, discussed the gravity of the offense, and repeatedly called Mr. LaPean a "monster" before making her sentence recommendation. (88:5-14; App. 118-128). At that point, the following exchange occurred:

[Prosecutor]:

The gravity of the offense is high. The need to not unduly depreciate happened here I think warrants a high prison time. The state recommends thiscourt 24 years

¹ The Honorable Eric J. Lundell presided over the plea and sentencing hearings in this case, while the Honorable Scott J. Nordstrand presided over the postconviction proceedings.

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 7 of 33

fashioned as 12 years initial confinement --

[Defense Counsel]: Objection, your Honor, this

is a violation of the plea agreement which capped the State's recommendation

at 10 years.

[The Court]: I don't know either way, so.

[Defense Counsel]: The record will be clear

from the plea hearing.

(88:14; App. 127)(emphasis added). The state then continued its argument:

Ten years - I am sorry. Ten years initial confinement, 14 years of extended supervision. And I think that the court needs to sentence Desmond LaPean to that high amount because to do so[sic] anything less would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the crime, the gravity of the offense, and the need to protect the public.

This is not a young man who I believe has learned from the errors of his ways. I think that he has a community that's going to insulate and continue to protect him and not have the degree of accountability to say what you did was wrong and you need help. He is going to get that with sex offender treatment, right. But he also needs a lengthy period of incarceration not only for himself, but to other victims and to A[].

This girl needs to grow up and be older to feel confident in her security and her safety and not realize that Desmond is going to get out within six to twelve months. He's a danger to our society. He just is. He is a sex offender. He is going to be labeled as such. And this court is going to put provisions that keep him accountable on the extended supervision part of it. But with regards to the initial confinement I ask this court to sentence him to the ten years because it is needed. Desmond is a threat. He is a danger and he is a monster. Thank you.

(88:14-15; App. 127-128).

After the state concluded its remarks, defense counsel made his presentation to the court, eliciting testimony from his expert. (88:15-41; App. 128-154). Mr. LaPean then began his allocution, at which point the state requested a side-bar. (88:42; App. 155). Back on the record, the prosecutor stated the following:

Judge, due to the plea agreement that we had entered into, the state does agree to cap its recommendation at 20 years fashioned as 10 years initial confinement and 10 years extended supervision. I apologize to the court that I misstated our agreement.

(88:42; App. 155). Mr. LaPean then completed his allocution and the court proceeded to sentence him, imposing a sentence of 22 years' imprisonment, divided as 12 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (52; 88:42-49; App. 101-103).

Mr. LaPean filed a postconviction motion seeking resentencing. (60). In it, he alleged that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel due to defense counsel's failure to object to the state's second plea breach and failure to advise him that he could seek specific performance at a new sentencing hearing as a remedy for the breaches.² (60:1-10). The state filed a response opposing Mr. LaPean's motion. (67). The state asserted that its breach of the plea agreement was not material and substantial and, consequently, trial counsel did not perform deficiently in failing to object. (67:3-7).

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion at which both defense counsel and Mr. LaPean testified. (91). Defense counsel testified that the plea agreement required the state to cap its sentencing recommendation at 10 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision, while the defense was free to argue. (91:7-8, 15-16; App. 157-158, 165-166). He also testified that, at sentencing, he objected to the state's request for a 24 year prison sentence consisting of 12 years of initial confinement because it was a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement. (91:8, 21-24; App. 158, 171-174). Defense counsel explained that he did not notice the state's subsequent request for 10 years' initial confinement and 14 years' extended supervision, did not have a reason for not objecting to that request, and did not discuss his decision not to object with Mr. LaPean. (91:9-12; App. 159-162).

² Mr. LaPean also alleged that he was denied his due process right to be sentenced by an impartial judge. (60). He is not renewing that claim on appeal.

> Further, defense counsel testified that at some point during the hearing the state corrected its mistake and he spoke to Mr. LaPean about how he wished to move forward. (91:9; App. 159). He explained that when he spoke to Mr. LaPean about the state's error, Mr. LaPean "immediately and eagerly asked [him] whether that breach of the plea agreement would be grounds for a resentence hearing in front of a new Judge." (91:10; App. 160). Defense counsel testified that based on his understanding of the law, he informed Mr. LaPean that the only remedy he could seek was plea withdrawal. (91:10-11, 24; App. 160-161, 174). He stated that he was unaware of the fact that Mr. LaPean could have requested resentencing before a different judge. (91:11, 23; App. 161, 173).

> Mr. LaPean also testified at the hearing. (91:25-28; App. 175-178). He explained that he was not aware that he could have sought a new sentencing hearing before a different judge as a remedy for the state's plea breach and, had he been aware of that remedy, he would have requested it "because the plea was broken." (91:27-28; App. 177-178).

After hearing testimony and arguments, the circuit court requested supplemental briefs. (91:64-65). Later, the court issued a written decision and order denying Mr. LaPean's motion for resentencing. (72; App. 104-117). The court concluded that the prosecutor's misstatement of the terms of the plea agreement was not a material and substantial breach

because it was ultimately corrected. (72:8-11; App. 111-114).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The state materially and substantially breached the plea agreement and defense counsel waived the error, as a result, Mr. LaPean was denied the effective assistance of counsel and is entitled to resentencing.

The materially state and substantially breached the plea agreement in this case when it twice requested that the court impose a sentence of 24 years' imprisonment and argued that anything less would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the offense and would not protect the public. This breach was not remedied by the state's later concession, made after defense counsel's presentation, that the plea agreement was for a 20 year sentence. The state's message had already been sent Mr. LaPean had been deprived of the benefit of his bargain. As a result, defense counsel performed deficiently when, for no strategic reason, he failed to object to the state's breach of the plea agreement and failed to accurately inform Mr. LaPean of his options as a result of the breach. Because Mr. LaPean was prejudiced by this deficient performance, his motion for resentencing before a different judge must be granted.

A. Legal standard and standard of review.

As the state's breach of the plea agreement in this case was material and substantial, Mr. LaPean was denied the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed to him when defense counsel failed to object to that breach and failed to advise him of both remedies available.

Criminal defendants Wisconsin in are guaranteed the right to counsel by both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. State v. Carter, 2010 WI 40, ¶20, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695 (citing U.S. Const. amend. VI). The right to counsel includes effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674(1984). To establish ineffectiveness, a defendant must show that his counsel's performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced by that deficient performance. Id., at 687.

Review of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel involves a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236–37, 548 N.W.2d 69 (Wis. 1996). This court grants deference to the circuit court's findings of fact regarding the circumstances of the case, counsel's conduct, and counsel's strategy; overturning them only if such findings of fact are clearly erroneous. Id.; State v. Ortiz-Mondragon, 2015 WI 73, ¶30, 364 Wis. 2d 1, 21, 866 N.W.2d 717. "However, whether counsel's performance was deficient and whether the deficient

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 13 of 33

performance prejudiced the defense are questions of law" which this court reviews de novo. *Sanchez*, 201 Wis. 2d at 236–37.

Similarly, when reviewing a plea breach claim, this court reviews "the circuit court's determination of historical facts, such as the terms of the plea agreement and the State's conduct that allegedly constitutes a breach, under the clearly erroneous standard of review," while the question of whether the state's conduct constitutes a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 1, ¶20, 249 Wis. 2d 492, 637 N.W.2d 733.

B. The state's breach of the plea agreement was material and substantial.

In spite of the promise it made to induce Mr. LaPean's no contest plea, at sentencing, the state twice asked the circuit court to impose a sentence totaling 24 years of imprisonment. Those requests, along with the prosecutor's passionate argument that anything less than 24 years would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the offense and need to protect the public, were a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement in this case.

Criminal defendants have "a constitutional right to the enforcement of a negotiated plea agreement." *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, ¶18, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997). "[W]hen a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 14 of 33

prosecutor...such promise must be fulfilled." Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). In other words, once the defendant has entered his plea pursuant to a plea agreement, "due process requires that the defendant's expectations be fulfilled." Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, ¶18 (quoting State v. Wills, 187 Wis. 2d 529, 537, 523 N.W.2d 569 (Ct. App. 1994)).

While a "prosecutor who does not present the negotiated sentencing recommendation to the circuit court breaches the plea agreement," not every plea breach violates due process and warrants a remedy. Williams, 2002 WI 1, ¶38. There must be a "material and substantial breach" of the agreement, rather than a merely technical breach, before the defendant is entitled to either plea withdrawal or resentencing. *Id.*

Determining "whether a breach occurred and whether the breach was substantial and material requires a careful examination of the facts." *Id.*, ¶53. A material and substantial breach of the plea agreement is a "violation of the terms of the agreement that defeats the benefit for which the accused bargained." *Id.*, ¶38. Wisconsin courts have made clear that "even an oblique variance will entitle the defendant to a remedy if it 'taints' the sentencing hearing by implying to the court that the defendant deserves more punishment than was bargained for." *State v. Bowers*, 2005 WI App 72, ¶9, 280 Wis. 2d 534, 696 N.W.2d 255. A prosecutor may not: "render less than a neutral recitation of the terms of the plea

> agreement," "cast doubt or distance itself from its own sentence recommendation," or use "qualified or making the negative language in sentence recommendation." Williams, 2002 WI 1, ¶¶42, 50; State v. Poole, 131 Wis. 2d 359, 364, 394 N.W.2d 909 1986)("A (Ct App comment which implies reservations about the recommendation 'taint[s] the sentencing process' and breaches the agreement.").

> The plea agreement in this case was clear and unambiguous. As the circuit court found, Mr. LaPean entered his no contest plea in exchange for the state's commitment to dismiss additional charges and not to recommend a sentence higher than 20 years' prison, consisting of 10 years' initial confinement and 10 years' extended supervision. (72:7-8; 87:3-4; App. 110-111). The state's agreement to cap its sentencing recommendation was a material and substantial term of the plea agreement. See Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, ¶21; See also State v. Howard, 2001 WI App 137, ¶18, 246 Wis. 2d 475, 630 N.W.2d 244 ("Undoubtedly, one of the most crucial issues in a plea agreement is the recommendation concerning the length of time to be served....").

Despite this commitment, at sentencing, the state requested a sentence above the agreed upon amount on two separate occasions: it first asked for a sentence of 12 years' initial confinement and 12 years' extended supervision and, after defense counsel objected, it then requested a sentence of 10 years' initial confinement and 14 years' extended supervision. (88:14; App. 127). Both recommendations

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 16 of 33

were above the 20 year sentence Mr. LaPean bargained for and, therefore, breached the plea agreement. The question in this case is whether the prosecutor's later acknowledgement of the error, made just prior to the court imposing sentence, was sufficient to render those breaches merely technical.

The state's breaches of the plea agreement were not merely technical, they were material and substantial — they defeated a benefit for which Mr. LaPean had bargained: his expectation that the state would not argue for more than a 20 year sentence. See Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, ¶21. Further, in light of the prosecutor's argument that Mr. LaPean was a monster and anything less than 24 years would be inadequate, her later acknowledgement of the error in this case was "too little, too late." See Williams, 2002 WI 1, ¶52.

In Williams, the Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected the state's argument that the prosecutor's affirmation of the plea agreement, after objection from defense counsel, cured an earlier breach. Williams, 2002 WI 1. Under the plea agreement in that case, the state agreed to recommend three years' probation with 60 days' jail. Id., ¶24. At sentencing, the prosecutor made a number of comments related to the PSI and conversations with the defendant's exwife that prompted an objection from the defense. Id., ¶¶26-27. Defense counsel argued that the state was "undercutting its sentencing recommendation," after which the prosecutor "explicitly stated that she

was not changing her recommendation," and again recommended three years' probation. Id., ¶¶27-29.

Despite the prosecutor's assertion that she was recommending the agreed upon sentence, the court held that the state "substantially and materially breached the plea agreement because it undercut the essence of the plea agreement." Id., ¶46. In so holding, the court noted that "[t]he prosecutor's declaration of her personal opinion created the impression that the prosecutor was arguing against the negotiated terms of the plea agreement." Id., ¶47-48. It also noted that,

the prosecutor's affirmation of the plea agreement was not adequate to overcome the prosecutor's covert message to the circuit court that a more severe sentence was warranted than that which had been recommended. After the defendant objected to the State's discussion of the presentence investigation report and the exwife's statements, the State affirmed its decision to proceed with the plea agreement. Despite stating its intention to stand by the plea agreement, the State had adopted as its own opinion the negative information regarding the defendant that was otherwise available to the court. ...

The overall impression from reading the entire record of the sentencing hearing is, however, that the State's comments affirming the plea agreement were too little, too late. We agree with the court of appeals that "just because the prosecutor says there was no breach does not make it so." That the prosecutor did not intend to breach the agreement or that a breach was inadvertent "does not lessen its impact."

Id., ¶¶51-52(internal citations omitted). In sum, the court found that despite the state's confirmation that it was abiding by the plea agreement, the "effect of the State's conduct ... was to undercut the plea agreement, thereby depriving the defendant of the benefit of his bargain and rendering the sentencing proceeding fundamentally unfair." Id., ¶58.

The prosecutor's comments in this case – that in her opinion, a prison sentence of no less than 24 years was necessary due to the gravity of the offense and the need to protect the public – similarly had the effect of undercutting the plea agreement. The state's later acknowledgement of the plea agreement could not undo the message that was already sent – that a more severe sentence than that which had been bargained for was warranted. It is that message which distinguishes this case from both State v. Knox, 213 Wis. 2d 318, 570 N.W.2d 599 (Ct App. 1997) and *State v. Bowers*, 2005 WI App 72, 280 Wis. 2d 534, 696 N.W.2d 255, in which this court found the state's breach of the plea agreement, promptly corrected after the defense's objection, was a technical rather than material and substantial breach.

In *Knox*, after the prosecutor erroneously requested a consecutive, rather than concurrent sentence, defense counsel "immediately requested a recess" and, "when the hearing reconvened, the prosecutor advised the court that there had apparently been a miscommunication regarding the agreement, and that she wished to make a new

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-07-2019 Page 19 of 33

record regarding the State's recommendation." *Knox*, 213 Wis. 2d 318, 320-321. The prosecutor then requested the agreed upon sentence. *Id*. Finding that the breach was not substantial, this court noted:

the deviation from the original terms drew a prompt objection and was shown to be the result of a mistake that was quickly acknowledged and rectified. Indeed, the prosecutor's earnest manner in advocating the corrected proposed disposition, commented upon by the trial court, further circumstantially belies an implication of improper motives. For these reasons, the momentary and inadvertent misstatement of the parties' agreement did not constitute an actionable breach.

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