Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 1 of 26

### **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-30-2019** 

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP1448-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DESMOND MYERS LAPEAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, THE HONORABLE ERIC J. LUNDELL, PRESIDING, AND A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE SCOTT J. NORDSTRAND, PRESIDING, BOTH ENTERED IN ST. CROIX COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

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

Like in *Bowers* and in *Knox*, the State promptly, neutrally, and matter-of-factly corrected its misstatement when it realized its mistake. And like in those cases, the court was aware of the correct terms of the plea agreement. The State told the court the correct recommendation during the sidebar and on the record. (R. 88:42.) Moreover, when the court announced its sentence, nothing in its remarks reflected a misunderstanding of the sentence the State was arguing. Rather, the court explained that it fashioned LaPean's initial confinement to ensure that LaPean would not be released until then-nine-year-old AMAM turned 21 years old. (R. 88:48–49.) It also imposed 10 years' extended supervision with the hope that by the time that supervision ended, AMAM would be in a relationship or family situation in which she felt

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 15 of 26

secure and protected. (R. 88:49.) The length of supervision was consistent with the State's correctly capped recommendation (and within the range recommended by the writer of the court-ordered PSI). (R. 88:47–48.) Given all of that, the State's misstated recommendation for extended supervision was soundly cured by its on-the-record correction and was no more than a technical breach.

## C. LaPean's attempts to align his case with *Williams* are not persuasive.

LaPean argues that the State's correction was too little and too late given its "passionate argument that anything less than 24 years would unduly depreciate the seriousness" of LaPean's assaults and undercut the need to protect the public. (LaPean's Br. 9–10.) He argues that this situation is more akin to the situation in *Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, where the court identified a material and substantial breach of the plea agreement. (LaPean's Br. 12–14.)

In *Williams*, the prosecutor recited the plea agreement that she would be recommending, three years' probation, but then made numerous comments during her remarks reflecting that her opinion of that recommendation had changed. *Williams*, 249 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 26. The prosecutor told the court that after the parties entered the agreement, the prosecutor received additional information from the PSI and Williams's ex-wife regarding Williams's manipulation and unwillingness to take responsibility. *Id.* ¶ 26. The prosecutor went on to emphasize the PSI and that writer's opinion that Williams "need[ed] to go to prison." *Id.* 

Williams's counsel objected that the State was covertly modifying its recommendation by advancing the PSI writer's position, which was inconsistent with the position the State agreed to take as part of the plea agreement. Id. ¶ 27. The prosecutor responded that she was merely relaying relevant

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 16 of 26

information from the PSI and that she stood by the agreed-upon recommendation of three years' probation. *Id.* ¶ 29.

The supreme court held that the "case present[ed] a close question," but based on the overall impression from the entire sentencing transcript, the State breached the plea agreement and the breach was material and substantial. Id. ¶¶ 46, 52. That was so because the State gave a less-thanneutral recitation of the plea agreement when it implied, at the start of its remarks, that it lacked information about the defendant at the time of the plea agreement, then went on to emphasize additional information that "raised doubts regarding the wisdom of the terms of the plea agreement." Id. ¶ 50.

LaPean's case is unlike *Williams*. There, the sentencing transcript reflected a consistent implication that after the parties reached the plea agreement, the prosecutor received additional information through the PSI and the defendant's ex-wife that caused her to doubt the wisdom of the agreed-upon sentence recommendation. Her remarks emphasizing the PSI writer's recommendation for prison further implied that the prosecutor personally believed that a harsher sentence than what she had agreed to ask for was warranted.

Here, in contrast, there was nothing from the prosecutor reflecting a change of heart regarding the agreedupon sentencing cap. Rather, the transcript reflects that the prosecutor simply had the wrong number in her head—24 years, not 20—when she began her sentencing remarks and initially appeared to request a 24-year sentence with 12 years' confinement. (R. 88:14.) She continued to believe that 24 was the relevant cap because she responded to LaPean's objection by correcting her recommendation to 10 and 14 years. (R. 88:14.) But nothing in her remarks reflected a changed view since the time of the plea. She did not "relay" the department of corrections' writer's presentence opinion recommendation. She apologized when she made her initial

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 17 of 26

correction to reflect the accurate recommendation for initial confinement, and then again when she informed the court of the correct recommendation for extended supervision. (R. 88:14, 42.)

LaPean disagrees that the State's correction was "prompt." (LaPean's Br. 16.) But by all appearances, the prosecutor corrected the errors as soon as she realized they were errors: first, immediately after LaPean's counsel objected to her recommendation of 12 years' initial confinement, and later interrupting LaPean's allocution to apologize and to inform the court of the correct recommendation. (R. 88:14, 42.)

LaPean insists that the State's error in recommending a longer overall sentence carried over into her sentencing remarks. (LaPean's Br. 16–17.) He focuses on the prosecutor's remarks when she told the court that "a high prison time" and that "high amount" of 10 years' confinement with 14 years' extended supervision was necessary "because to do . . . anything less would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the crime, the gravity of the offense, and [the] need to protect the public." (R. 88:14.) LaPean further suggests that in making its correction, the State should have asserted "that it no longer believed a sentence of 24 years was necessary." (LaPean's Br. 18.) He faults the prosecutor for qualifying its correction as being "due to the plea agreement." (*Id.*)

To start, LaPean's counsel repeatedly emphasizes that the State was recommending "24 years of imprisonment," (LaPean's Br. 16–20), when the error was reflected only in its recommendation for extended supervision. To that end, the focus of the State's remarks regarding "high prison time" was the 10 years of confinement, which was consistent with the plea agreement. In making the recommendation, the prosecutor noted that the "lengthy period of incarceration" was necessary for both LaPean and the victim, who "needs to grow up and be older to feel confident in her security and her

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 18 of 26

safety and not realize that [LaPean] is going to get out within six to twelve months. He's a danger to our society." (R. 88:15.) In other words, the prosecutor was arguing for the maximum initial confinement consistent with the plea agreement. By so arguing, she was not suggesting that LaPean deserved more time than what she was required to argue under the agreement.

And to be clear, the State does not mean to suggest that the extended supervision portion of the recommendation didn't matter. It did matter, and the prosecutor had a duty under the plea agreement to recommend 10 years of extended supervision. But the point remains that the prosecutor directed her argument to advocate for the 10-year period of initial confinement, given the gravity of the offense, the need to protect the public, and the need for the victim to develop a sense of security. The focus of her argument was not the length of extended supervision.

Furthermore, the law permits a prosecutor to argue zealously for his or her recommended sentence, even when subject to a cap under a plea agreement. See State v. Naydihor, 2004 WI 43, ¶ 30, 270 Wis. 2d 585, 678 N.W.2d 220 ("[W]e have found no case that holds that the State is obligated to say something nice or positive about the defendant in order to avoid breaching a plea agreement."). The tenor of the prosecutor's argument was that the cap she had agreed to argue was justified based on the facts of the case and the relevant sentencing factors. It was not a veiled effort to persuade the court that LaPean deserved more punishment than he had bargained for her to argue.

Similarly, as for LaPean's claims that the prosecutor should have done more to advocate for a 20-year sentence after correcting her mistake, the law does not require that. Rather, it merely requires a prompt correction that does not impair the integrity of the sentencing process, not a particularly zealous or enthusiastic one. For example, while

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 19 of 26

in *Bowers*, "the State did not correct itself with tremendous enthusiasm and zeal and while the trial court did not reflect upon the State's 'earnest' advocacy of the proper sentence," neither of those things were required for the court "to find a perceived breach immaterial and insubstantial. There is no requirement that the state correct a misstated sentence recommendation forcefully or enthusiastically." *Bowers*, 280 Wis. 2d 534, ¶ 12. Instead, "it is sufficient for the State to promptly acknowledge the mistake of fact and to rectify the error without impairing the integrity of the sentencing process." *Id*.

Here, the prosecutor's saying that the cap on her sentence recommendation was 20 years, with up to 10 years' initial confinement and 10 years' extended supervision due to the plea agreement, is a neutral, matter-of-fact clarification of the plea agreement terms. Both times that the prosecutor made the correction, she apologized for the error. Neither time—nor at any point during her sentencing remarks—did the prosecutor step over the line as the State did in *Williams* to imply a change of heart since the plea agreement or a new opinion that LaPean deserved more punishment than what he had bargained for the State to argue.

In sum, the prosecutor here zealously advocated for the longest sentence she could, consistent with the plea agreement. Her mistake in misstating her recommended period of extended supervision, which she promptly corrected, was not a material and substantial breach.

D. Because the breach was not material and substantial, counsel was not ineffective; alternatively, LaPean cannot demonstrate prejudice.

The postconviction court correctly concluded that counsel was not ineffective because the breach was not material and substantial. Before the postconviction court, the Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 20 of 26

parties agreed that the question of ineffective assistance turned on whether the State's perceived breach was material and substantial. (R. 72:11.) As a result, the postconviction court did not otherwise address the *Strickland* factors. (R. 72:11.) That said, if this Court disagrees with the postconviction court's holding and the State's position that the breach was technical and not material and substantial, LaPean must still establish that he is entitled to relief under *Strickland*, which in the State's view he cannot do, because LaPean retains his burden to establish prejudice, and he cannot do so.<sup>1</sup>

### 1. Prejudice is not presumed.

LaPean asserts, (LaPean's Br. 23–24), that under Wisconsin case law, prejudice is presumed. See State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 281, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997) (holding that prosecutor's material and substantial breach of plea agreement deprives the defendant of fair and reliable sentencing proceedings, and thus prejudice is presumed); State v. Howard, 2001 WI App 137, ¶ 25, 246 Wis. 2d 475, 630 N.W.2d 244 (acknowledging holding in Smith).

The State disagrees that the presumption of prejudice in *Smith* and its progeny remains viable in light of subsequent United States Supreme Court law. In *Puckett v. United States*, 556 U.S. at 132–33, the government breached its plea agreement with Puckett during sentencing, but Puckett did not contemporaneously object. Because Puckett forfeited the claim of error, the Court reviewed Puckett's challenge under

<sup>1</sup> As for the first *Strickland* prong, the State agrees with LaPean's position that he established that if the breach was material and substantial, counsel performed deficiently by not objecting. (LaPean's Br. 20–23.) At the *Machner* hearing, counsel testified that his failure to object to the State's misstatement of its recommended term of extended supervision was an oversight and not the product of a reasonable strategic decision. (R. 91:9–12.)

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 21 of 26

the plain-error doctrine. *Id.* at 135. Under that doctrine, the defendant must satisfy four elements, including that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings, i.e., that the error prejudiced him. *Id.* 

Puckett opposed plain-error review, in part because "the prejudice prong, has no application, since plea-breach claims fall within 'a special category of forfeited errors that can be corrected regardless of their effect on the outcome." *Id.* at 140 (citation omitted).

The Court disagreed. It first noted that a breach of a plea deal "is not a 'structural' error as we have used that term" and is not necessarily precluded from harmless error review. *Id.* at 140–41.

The Court also distinguished and limited its previous holding in Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257 (1971), where it held "that automatic reversal is warranted when objection to the Government's breach of a plea agreement has been preserved." Id. at 141. But that holding, the court explained, was based not on the premise that a plea-breach constitutes the equivalent of a structural error to which harmless error review was not amenable, "but rather upon a policy interest in establishing the trust between defendants and prosecutors that is necessary to sustain plea bargaining." Id. So, the Court explained, while the rule in Santobello—as applied to cases where the objection was preserved—was sound, it did not extend to cases where the defense failed to preserve the error by a contemporaneous objection. As the Court wrote, "the rule of contemporaneous objection is equally essential and desirable [to the policy interest in establishing trust between the parties to plea agreements, and when the two collide we see no need to relieve the defendant of his usual burden of showing prejudice." *Id*.

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 22 of 26

Puckett controls over Smith and its progeny. See State v. Jennings, 2002 WI 44, ¶ 19, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142 ("The court of appeals must not follow a decision of [the Wisconsin Supreme Court on a matter of federal law if it conflicts with a subsequent controlling decision of the United States Supreme Court."). The court in *Smith* concluded that prejudice is presumed when counsel deficiently fails to object to a material and substantial breach of a plea, and that it need not consider what the sentencing judge would have done had counsel objected, based on the idea that such a breach renders the sentencing unfair and unreliable. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d at 281. But that holding was based on Santobello, without limiting that case to situations where the objection was preserved: "Rather, our conclusion is premised on the rule of Santobello, that when a negotiated plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, such promise must be fulfilled." Id. Given the Puckett Court's later-stated limits on the holding in Santobello, Smith's holding does not appear to remain viable.

And that *Puckett* involved an application of the plainerror doctrine does not limit its applicability to *Strickland* claims. Plain-error and ineffective assistance of counsel claims are appropriate for appellate review of unobjected-to matters. *See State v. Beauchamp*, 2011 WI 27, ¶ 37, 333 Wis. 2d 1, 796 N.W.2d 780. Both tests require either a demonstration of prejudice (ineffective assistance) or lack thereof (plain error). *Id.* ¶¶ 38–39. Moreover, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has held that defendants alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to a breach of the plea agreement at sentencing were required to show prejudice, and relied in part on *Puckett* in doing so. *See*, *e.g.*, *Campbell v. Smith*, 770 F.3d 540, 549 (7th Cir. 2014).

Given the reasoning and rationale in *Puckett*, *Smith* is no longer good law to the extent that it holds that the presumption of prejudice applies to claims that counsel was

Case 2019AP001448 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-30-2019 Page 23 of 26

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